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To be the premier entertainment 

and lifestyle group in Jamacia and 

beyond.

The KLE Group is now pursuing 

exciting new projects in franchising, 

entertainment, tourism and real 

estate development.

K L E  G R O U P  L I M I T E D

Building dynamic lifestyle brands 

that will evolve the landscape of 

entertainment, satisfy our customers, 

inspire our team, enhance our 

community and deliver exceptional 

shareholder value.

USAIN BOLT’S TRACKS & RECORDS 
and TRACKS & RECORDS
Jamaican Themed Casual Dining 
Restaurant and Bar Kingston, Jamaica

BESSA
Lifestyle Themed Boutique Villa Community.
(Joint venture with Sagicor Life)
St. Mary, Jamaica

BESSA RESORT MANAGEMENT
Property and rental management for the 
Bessa villas. Oracabessa, St Mary

SPF / FOREVER BEACH
Premium Ultra All Inclusive Party Series

FRANCHISE JAMAICA
Franchise Jamaica, Franchise specialists

SUMFEST ACOUSTIC CAFE
Jamaican Themed Fast-Casual Restaurant 
and Juice Bar
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The K.L.E. Group Board of Directors is a group of individuals with the knowledge, experience and expertise 
required to maintain and grow a successful business. The Board is chaired by David Shirley and comprised 
of eight members representing some of Jamaica’s top business leaders and entrepreneurs. The Directors’ 
qualifications and profiles are set out in the Directors profile. The K.L.E. Group Board is dedicated to driving 
financial growth and delivering exceptional shareholder value. The Board will achieve the highest standards of 
Corporate Governance and be responsible for the effectiveness of the business entities, ensuring proper controls, 
monitoring performance, and directing management towards growth and success with the utmost integrity.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The K.L.E. Group is guided by the Jamaica Stock Exchange Junior Market Rules and the Private Sector Organization 
of Jamaica (PSOJ) Corporate Governance Code which was adopted by a properly constituted Board of Directors 
in 2013 and is available on the company’s website, klegroupltd.com. The Board has implemented many of the 
best practice recommendations as set out by the PSOJ Governance code. The Board’s role is also to ensure 
transparency in achieving the goals of the business. A procurement policy was put in place by the Board to ensure 
transparency in the procurement of goods and services. It outlines a set of general principles and procurement 
procedures that should be adhered to in the procurement of all materials, goods and services. The Board met on 
three occasions during the financial year 2022

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board’s function is to monitor the business systems, review business processes, make decisions, and set 
policy accordingly to drive the business forward, drive shareholder value, and achieve success. The Board has 
initially established two committees with clearly defined responsibilities:

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee monitors and reviews the objectivity and effectiveness of all business systems. The 
Committee also monitors and reviews the financial health of the business and approves all budgets, internal audit 
functions and external financial statements. The Committee during the year approved announcements on the 
company’s financial performance quarterly, as well as the audited financials and considered and recommended 
the group’s annual operating and capital budgets. As of the date of this Annual Report, the Members of the Audit 
Committee, as appointed by the Board of Directors are: 

David Shirley (Chairman)  Non-Executive Member     
   (Independent) 
Gary Matalon    Non-Executive Member     
   (Independent) 
Norman Peart   Non-Executive Member     
   (Independent) 

The Committee met on three occasions during the financial year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee reviews and approves all policies related to compensation and incentives of all 
board members and senior management of the company.
As of the date of this Annual Report, the Members of the Remuneration Committee as appointed by the Board 
of Directors are:

Marlon Hill   (Chairman)
Stephen Shirley  Member
Josef Bogdanovich  Member
David Shirley  Member

Circumstances did not warrant having a meeting 
during the financial year 2022.

Shareholders wishing a copy of the Annual Report or have any queries can forward the request or queries to 
info@klegroupltd.com Shareholders wishing to request a copy of the company’s last Annual General meeting 
please send written correspondence to the office at 67 Constant Spring Road, Unit 8, Market Place, Kingston 10.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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DAVID ALEXANDER SHIRLEY, B.A. 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Non-Executive Director
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Non-Executive Director
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Non-Executive Director

NORMAN PEART
Non-Executive Director

ZUAR ARD JARRETT, B.A., M. Arch. 
Non-Executive Director

MARLON A. HILL, ESQ
Non-Executive Director

STEPHEN ORLANDO SHIRLEY, A.S. 
Non-Executive Director

CHRIS DEHRING, BSc. 
Non-Executive Director

(Resigned: May 25th, 2022)



DIRECTOR’S PROFILES
DAVID ALEXANDER SHIRLEY
David A. Shirley, B.A., is Chairman of the K.L.E. 
Group Ltd whose passion for business, sports 
and community development Reflects a career 
spanning over two decades and multiple industries 
in Jamaica, including Coffee, Sports, Entertainment 
and Real Estate Development. He is an esteemed 
graduate of Florida International University with a 
degree in Business Administration and Marketing 
and is the Co-Owner and Co- Founder of KLE 
Group Limited, Locker Room Sports , Velle Sport 
International and holds the position of Chairman and 
Managing Director of Jamaica Coffee Corporation 
Limited. His track record includes business exploits 
in Europe, China and Japan where Jamaica Coffee 
Corporation Limited has exported 100% Jamaica 
Blue Mountain Coffee for decades. His stewardship 
currently reflects the position of Director of the 
Jamaica Coffee Corporation, Stoneleigh Coffee 
Processors Limited and Stoneleigh Coffee 
Roasters Limited. At the KLE Group , David serves 
as a Director of the Bessa Villa Development and 
Executive Chairman of Bessa Resort Managent 
Limited.  As Deputy Chairman of the Independence 
Park Limited and Director of the Barbican Football 
Club, David gives back time and service to the 
sports community to which he is very passionate.

GARY MATALON
Gary Matalon is the Co-Founder and a Director the 
KLE Group. He has made a name for himself as a 
business mogul, serial entrepreneur and innovative 
trendsetter who is eager to take on new adventures 
and revolutionize businesses. Matalon has 
founded several businesses including Project and 
Enterprise Management firm Neustone Ltd, KLE 
Group, FranJam and Sumfest Acoustic Cafe. Under 
his guidance, these companies have managed the 
development of several establishments such as 
the Marriott Courtyard, Richmond Estates, Fiction 
Lounge, Usain Bolt’s Tracks & Records and more 
recently, luxury real estate development, Bessa. 
Matalon achieved his BA in Business Management 
and Entrepreneurship from Lynn University and his 
MA in Business from the University of Liverpool. He 
also holds the prestigious credentials of a Project 
Management Professional (PMP) from Boston 
University.

JOE BOGDANOVICH
Joseph James Bogdanovich is the Founder and 
CEO of DownSound Entertainment owners of 
Downsound Records and a Member of the Board 
of the KLE Group. He is an accredited, self-made 
urban visionary and entrepreneur. He holds an 
Undergraduate Degree in Political Science from 
Boston University and a Master’s in Fine Arts (Film) 
from the California Institute of the Arts. In 1992, 
he began pursuing his greatest passion full time - 
music. He founded the ACID JAZZ Record Company 
in California and then DownSound Records in 
Los Angeles a year later. He was introduced 
to reggae and dancehall through an artist on 
his label, and after this, the California-born and 
raised businessman adopted Jamaica as his new 
homeland. Joe immediately began getting involved 
in the music and entertainment scene in Jamaica. 
In 2012 he became a full partner in thestaging 
of Sting, the legendary one-night dancehall stage 
show. Then, in 2014, Bogdanovich became the 
largest shareholder in the KLE Group. By March 
2016, DownSound Entertainment acquired the 
major Jamaican summer music festival brand, 
Reggae Sumfest where KLE launched its second 
franchise, Sumfest Acoustic Cafe and later that 
year also aquired Hardware & Lumber, Rapid True 
Value. In 2018 Joe, went on to aquire The R Hotel 
in Kignston Jamaica.

STEPHEN SHIRLEY
Stephen Shirley, past Chairman of the Board and 
current Director of the KLE Group, has a love for 
business, entertainment and everything sports! It 
was this love that led to Stephen’s involvement in the 
establishment of Locker Room Sports in 1998, the 
KLE Group in 2008, and Velle Sport International 
in 2009. He currently serves as a Director on the 
Board for all three companies. His expertise also 
extends to the Coffee Industry. In 2017, he took 
on the role of CEO of Stoneleigh Coffee Roasters 
Limited., the company responsible for our 100% 
Jamaican Blue Mountain Roasted Coffee. He is 
also the Managing Director of Stoneleigh Coffee 
Processors Ltd, and Director of Jamaica Coffee 
Ltd. Stephen spent his school days between Munro 
College and Hillel Academy before attending the 
Miami Dade Community College where he received 
his Associate Degree in Business Management. 
Stephen Shirley is most comfortable and excited on 
the tennis court, football field, and any other sports 
arena he can get his hands on.
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MARLON HILL
Marlon A. Hill is a Director of the KLE Group Ltd. 
and a partner in the Miami office of Hamilton, 
Miller & Birthisel, LLP. With over 24 years of 
legal experience, Mr. Hill represents the interests 
of entrepreneurs, corporations, and non-profit 
organizations, especially in the tourism, hospitality, 
and media/entertainment industries. A past 
student of St. George’s College, Mr. Hill is one of the 
Inaugural Fellows in the Miami Foundation’s Miami 
Fellows Initiative and a current Member of the Board 
of Directors of the Miami Parking Authority, Miami 
Book Fair International, Greater Miami Chamber of 
Commerce, and Jamaican Men of Florida. Mr. Hill 
is a past member of Jamaican Diaspora Advisory 
Board representing the Southern United States 
(2006-2011). Mr. Hill is a weekly commentator 
on Caribbean Riddims, “The People’s Politics”, 
WNMA 1210AM, a recurring OpEd contributor 
to SunSentinel, SF 100 and former public affairs 
roundtable contributor to WPLG Local 10 “This 
Week in South Florida”. Mr. Hill is currently a 
candidate for the Miami Dade County Commission, 
District 9, representing residents in S.W. Miami-
Dade County communities.

ZUAR JARRETT
Zuar Ard Jarrett, B.A., M.Arch (hon) is a Director 
of KLE Group Limited, Bessa Resort Managent 
Limited and Co-Director of Bessa Villa Development. 
His career in business has spanned over two 
decades in Architectural Design Development 
services, Entertainment, Real Estate Development 
and Investment. Jarrett was awarded a Bachelor 
of Arts in Architectural Studies (2nd hon) in 
2000 and went on to receive the European Union 
scholarship to pursue a Masters of Architecture, 
which was completed in 2002. Jarrett founded 
Zuar Group Limited in 2002 and serves as Chief 

Executive Officer. The company’s extensive portfolio 
spans corporate, Government, NGO and private 
client works in Jamaica, Guyana, Bahamas, 
Cayman Islands and Africa.  He went on to Co-
Found KLE Group Ltd in 2008 and Real Equity Ltd 
in 2017 and held portfolio responsibilities in real 
estate development, marketing, entertainment, 
and investment. Jarrett has extensive experience 
in the Real Estate Acquisition and Development 
space along with brand building names like Fiction 
Night club, Usain Bolt Tracks and Records, UBTnR, 
Sumfest Acoustic Café, Jahva Cafe and Bessa.

NORMAN O. PEART
Norman Peart is a Member of the Board of the KLE 
Group and Business Manager to world-renowned 
international sprint sensation Usain Bolt. His areas 
of expertise are business and finance. He began his 
career in business by pursuing a Bachelor’s degree 
in Business Administration and Finance from the 
University of Technology in Jamaica. Afterward, 
he worked for the Government of Jamaica as a 
tax auditor from 2001 to 2009. Norman became 
Usain’s manager in 2003 when the sprinter was 
in high school and started showing glimpses of 
his prodigious talent. Under Norman’s tutelage, 
Usain’s career as a professional athlete took off! 
Peart organized for Bolt to sign with Puma and his 
relocation himself to Kingston. He also brought 
PACE Sports Management on board and facilitated 
the move to Coach Glen Mills in 2004. Peart is 
also a licensed Jamaica Securities Dealer and 
IAAF authorized athlete representative. He loves 
live music and good food, which made him the 
perfect fit for the KLE Group team where he could 
enjoy both at all Usain Bolt’s Tracks and Records 
restaurant locations.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

I am pleased to present the annual 
Chairman’s Report for The 

KLE Group Limited, a publicly 
traded company that now 
specializes in real estate and 
private equity investments. 
The past year has been both 
challenging and rewarding 
for our organization as we 
navigated through dynamic 
market conditions and 

continued to deliver value to 
our shareholders.

Market Overview:

The global economy experienced 
significant volatility over the past 

year, marked by the ongoing impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The real estate and private equity 
sectors faced unique challenges and opportunities as 
businesses adapted to changing consumer behaviors and 
governments implemented various measures to stimulate 
economic recovery. Despite these circumstances, 
KLE Group demonstrated resilience and adaptability, 
capitalizing on emerging trends and maintaining a prudent 
approach to investment.

Financial Performance:
I am delighted to report that KLE Group achieved improved 
financial performance during the fiscal year 2022. Our 
ability to identify and capitalize on attractive investment 
opportunities, combined with effective risk management 
strategies, has contributed to positive share contribution.

In the real estate segment, we continued to focus on 
completing the Bessa project with our equity partners 
Sagicor Investments and preparing our subsidiary 
company Bessa Resort Management for its exclusive 
contract with the property.The team’s expertise in 
property acquisition, development, and management has 
enabled us to generate attractive opportunities  for our 
shareholders.

Our private equity investments also delivered positive 
outcomes, driven by our strategic approach to 
restructuring our equity in the restaurant division. We 
actively supported the growth and development of of 49% 
equity position in Franjam, the owners and operators of 
Tracks and Records, helping them navigate through the 
challenges of the past year. Several successful exits and 
favorable market conditions contributed to strong returns 
on our private equity investments.

Corporate Social Responsibility:
At KLE, we recognize the importance of integrating 
sustainability and responsible practices into our business 
operations. We remain committed to conducting our 
activities with the highest standards of ethics, transparency, 
and accountability. We prioritize environmental, social, 
and governance (ESG) factors in our investment decision-
making process, ensuring the long-term sustainability and 
positive impact of our portfolio.

In 2022 we supported the Oracabessa High School with a 
cash donation and sport equipment, we also supported the 
Gibraltar Citizens Association with their town Christmas 
tree festivities. The turtle release program under the 
management of Mel Tenant continuously works with our 
team to ensure preservation of the environment whilst we 
balance development and nature.

Outlook:
Looking ahead, we remain cautiously optimistic about the 
opportunities in both the real estate and private equity 
sectors. As economies recover and consumer confidence 
strengthens, we anticipate increased demand for high-
quality properties across various segments. We will 
continue to leverage our expertise and relationships to 
identify investment prospects that align with our long-term 
strategy and deliver sustainable returns.

In private equity, we will maintain our disciplined approach 
to investment selection, focusing on sectors with strong 
growth potential and companies that exhibit robust 
fundamentals and scalability. We believe that our active 
involvement and value creation initiatives will continue to 
drive success in this space.

Conclusion:
In conclusion, I would like to express my gratitude to our 
dedicated employees, management team, and valued 
shareholders. Your unwavering support and commitment 
have been instrumental in KLE’s survival. We remain 
steadfast in our mission to create long-term value through 
real estate and private equity investments, while upholding 
the highest standards of integrity and responsibility by 
being listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I extend my sincere 
appreciation to our shareholders for their trust and 
confidence. We look forward to another year of growth 
and success as we navigate the evolving landscape of real 
estate and private equity.

Yours sincerely,

David Alexander Shirley
Chairman of the Board
KLE Group Limited

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
The company continued in its quest to finalize all outstanding matters relating to the business combination 
transaction between the Restaurant division and associate company T&R Restaurant Systems Limited. During 
the year the company recorded $27.2 million in adjustment to discontinued operating results. This was the 
resulting factor of FranJam honoring its obligations to pay down particular liabilities owed by the restaurant 
division.

Equity Accounted Associated (FranJam)
The restructured Associate (FranJam) turned a profit during the financial year moving from a loss of $14.2 
Million in the prior year to a total net profit of $6.5million in 2022. This was due to improved cost, marketing 
and operating strategies. KLE recorded in its statement of comprehensive income profits of $3.5 million which 
represents is equity stake in FranJam.

FranJam earned total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2022 of $368.5 million compared to $102 
million for the 2021 year. Total assets for FranJam at the close of the financial year equaled $239.8 million.
 

ASSET
Total Assets decreased by 32% or $70 million moving from $209.8 million in 2021 to $142.8 million in 2022. 
The major contributing factors are the derecognition of the Right to use Asset and the reduction in cash and cash 
equivalents which was used to service outstanding liabilities. The company is reporting positive working capital and 
current ratios as well as liquidity for the 2022 financial period. These ratios are expected to improve in the short 
to medium term as the company rolls out its future plans and objectives.
 

OVERVIEW 
The financial year ended December 2022 saw the company and its subsidiary achieving many of the objectives 
which was outlined at the start of the year. The main goal and objectives were to achieve a profit attributable 
to stockholders and write down the accumulated deficit which the business has been carrying for a number of 
years. With the positive outlook for the Jamaican economy the KLE Group has position itself to maximize on the 
restructured opportunities which have presented itself to the group and is only focused on adding absolute value 
to its shareholders.

Reorganization and Growth Efforts 
During the year KLE has continued its restructuring efforts in that it has fully transition the restaurant division to 
associate company T&R Restaurant Systems Limited and designed a full roadmap for the subsidiary company 
Bessa Resort Management Limited. Full result of the restructuring efforts will be realized in the 2023 financial 
year.

OTHER OPERATING REVENUES
The company recorded other operating revenues of $18,056 million dollars compared to $77,348 million in the 
prior year. The decline in the current year was as a result of the one off gain derived from the transfer by way of 
absolute assignment the economic rights derived from the US $ 200,000 described as the Bessa Sweat Equity 
which represents 9% interest in the Bessa Partnership to a third party. Other operating income in the current 
year represents the derecognition of the lease obligation and payments of taxes due to Tax Administration 
Jamaica by FranJam.
 

PROFITABILITY
The company continues to increase in profitability and has reported a commendable profit for the 2022 financial 
year. Total comprehensive income for the year amounted to $24,956 million compared to $13,803 million in the 
prior year.
 

Administrative and General Expenses
Administrative and other expenses amounted to $12,464 million, compared to the $21,357 million for the 
previous year. The company has maintained a lean operating structure to facilitate the business transition. 
Included in this category are expenses relating to salary, dues and subscription, professional fees, and audit 
expenses.
 

 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS
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LIABILITIES
Total liabilities continued to decline in the 2022 year mainly due to the company not incurring any additional 
liabilities and existing obligations have been paid off. 
 

INCREASED SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Shareholders equity for the period increased significantly and is directly related to the positive earnings 
generated for the year. For the 2022 financial year the business also recorded a positive earnings per stock 
unit. Earnings per stock unit for the year equaled  $0.25.
 

CASH FLOW AND LIQUIDITY
From a cash flow point of view, the company generated a negative cash flow from operating and financing 
activities. This is in line with the groups strategies to paid out its long pass due obligations.

OUTLOOK
The Board and management of KLE Group Limited is optimistic about the future prospects of the business 
and are confident that the company will deliver great returns to its shareholders. In the short term the 
group expects to continue generating a profit which will continue to eliminate the accumulated deficit which 
it has been carrying for numerous years. The Group expects to bring to account a significant gain on the 
Joint Venture Bessa project in the third quarter of the 2023 financial year. KLE Group will also reinvest 
its gains form the Bessa projects into rental units. This will generate rental income for the company as 
well as increase its assets base. Also, through Bessa Resort Management Limited the group expects to 
commence its management of the rental villas which is projected to launch at the start of the 2023 winter 
tourist season. The group is very bullish on the launch and our local and international partners are excited 
about the prospects. The group also projects to earn revenues for its executive property management 
contract of the Bessa villas. This income stream is expected to Kick in during the third quarter of the 2023 
financial year. In addition, KLE will earn valuable returns from its stake in the associated company which 
base on budgetary numbers will return a profit in the next financial year. KLE will earn 49% of its equity 
associate profit. The board of directors and management will also continue to pursue additional business 
opportunities as they arise. KLE Group Limited would like to express a sincere thank you and appreciation 
to our hardworking and dedicated employees, who have all contributed to our accomplishments during 
the year. Also, our loyal customers for believing in our brands and their continued support to our business. 
Finally, to our shareholders and directors for their continued confidence and direction.

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY
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KLE values the community in which we serve and operate as such 
we take great pride in making meaningful contributions to the 
stakeholders and the people in the community we serve. Much of 
our corporate social responsibility for the fiscal year was centered 
in the parish of St. Mary where the “Bessa” project is located.

St Mary Parish Council Community 
Charitable Programme
During the year we contributed to the St. Mary’s Parish council 
charitable program. This assisted in them providing well needed 
intervention in several communities in the parish. 

Oracabessa High School
KLE contributed to the Physical Education Department of the 
Oracabessa High School during the 2022 financial year. The 
area of contribution was determined out of a needs assessment 
exercise conducted with the school’s administration. The company 
has committed to the continued partnership with the school to 
develop and assist in other areas where great need is identified. 

Gibraltar Citizens Association
In the Christmas period the company supported the Gibraltar 
Citizens Association in their Christmas Tree Festive activities. This 
was in keeping with our mantra to endeavor the community in 
which we operate to be successful in the activities which the host. 
The celebrations were a success and the entire community was 
extremely grateful and happy.

Meet the “Turtle Man” Saving the Turtles
K.L.E. Group Limited has partnered with the “Turtle Man” Mel Tenant 
in his save the turtle initiatives which includes the transportation 
of turtles from their nest ashore back to the water. Mr. Gibson 
has successfully released more than 25,000 baby turtles back 
into the sea over the years. KLE is a firm believer of environment 
preservation whilst balancing infrastructural developments.

CURRENT LIABILITIES
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TEN LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS   |   AT QUARTER 31 DECEMBER 2022

SHAREHOLDINGS
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SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS   |   AT QUARTER 31 DECEMBER 2022

SHAREHOLDINGS OF EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT   |   AT QUARTER 31 DECEMBER 2022

NAMES

1  Gary Matalon 
    (Highbourne Ltd.- connected company)

2  David Shirley
    (Shani McGraham-Shirley - connected party)

3  Joseph Bogdanovich

4  Zuar Jarrett

5  Stephen Shirley

6  Norman Peart

7  Marlon Hill

NAMES 

1 Nicholas K. Taylor

2 Richard McFarlane

3 Stephen Greig

CONNECTED 
SHARES 

1,450,000

CONNECTED 
SHARES

NO. OF SHARES

 17,479,033 

6,377,750 

23,168,835 

4,200,000 

10,111,500 

Nil

Nil

NO. OF SHARES

 
18,182

Nil

Nil 

CONNECTED 
SHARES

 

  1,450,000

  NAMES

  1  Bogdanovich, Joseph

  2  Matalon, Gary
      (Highbourne Ltd.- connected company)

  3  Shirley, Stephen
      (Anna-Kaye Martin-Shirley - connected party)

  4  Sherwood Holdings Limited

  5  Shirley, David
      (Shani N. McGraham-Shirley - connected party)

  6 Jarrett, Zuar

  7 Steele, Colin

  8 JCSD Trustee Services Ltd. - Sigma Global Venture

  9 XLR8 Financial Limited 

10 Jamaica Properties Limited

  Total

  Others

  Total Issued Shares

PERSONAL
SHARES

     
 23,168,835 

  
17,479,033 

  
10,111,500 

  
6,757,000 

  
6,377,750 

  
4,200,000 

  
3,640,558 

  
3,309,710 

  
2,376,500 

  
2,000,000 

  
79,420,886 

20,579,114
 

100,000,000 

PERCENTAGE
OWNERSHIP

23.17%

17.48%
 

10%

6.76%

6.38%

4.20%

3.64%

3.31%

2.38%

2.00%

 
79.42%

20.58%

100.00%



FIVE YEAR HISTORICAL REVIEW

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

KLE Group Ltd.   14    Annual Report 2022



Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Changes in Equity

Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Financial Statements

KLE GROUP LIMITED

INDEPENDENT 

AUDITOR’S REPORT 

AND FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

KLE Group Ltd.    17    Financial StatementsKLE Group Ltd.    16    Financial Statements

17 - 21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30 - 64



KLE Group Ltd.    18    Financial Statements KLE Group Ltd.    19    Financial Statements



KLE Group Ltd.    20    Financial Statements KLE Group Ltd.    21    Financial Statements



KLE Group Ltd.    22    Financial Statements

K i n g s t o n  L i v e  E n t e r t a i n m e n t

KLE GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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K i n g s t o n  L i v e  E n t e r t a i n m e n t

KLE GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 DECEMBER 2022

 
       Page 6 
 K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
 

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 
 Note        2022  2021   
       $’000     $’000     
 
 
Other operating income 6 18,056 78,476  
 
Administrative and other expenses 7 (12,464) (21,357)  
 
PROFIT FROM OPERATION  5,592 57,119  
 
Finance costs 8 (11,329) (16,169)  
 
  (  5,737) 40,950 
Share of post-tax profit/(loss) of equity  
 accounted associate 14   3,201 (((  6,978) 
 
(Loss)/profit before taxation  (  2,536) 33,972 
    
Taxation 9     -       (  8,241)  
 
(LOSS)/PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATION  (  2,536) 25,731  
 
Loss from discontinued operation 25       -     (11,400) 
 
Adjustment to discontinued operation results              25                      27,208                      -    
 
NET PROFIT  24,672 14,331 
 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: 
 
  Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss - 
    Unrealised gain/(loss) on investments at fair value  
      through other comprehensive income 13      284 (     528)   
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  24,956 13,803 
 
 
EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT BASIC AND DILUTED 10                     $0.25   $0.14 
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 Note  2022  2021 
  $’000 $’000          
ASSETS 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS: 
   Right-of-use asset 17(a) -       27,820 
   Investment in joint venture 11 14,997 15,276 
   Investment in associate 14 71,557 68,356 
   Investments 13     8,061    6,011 
   
    94,615 117,463 
CURRENT ASSETS: 
  Receivables 15 9,823 6,402 
  Short term investments 13 26,925 28,691 
  Cash and bank balances 19   11,458    57,233 
 
    48,206   92,326 
   
  142,821 209,789 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
EQUITY: 
  Share capital 20 122,903 122,903 
  Fair value reserve 21 1,663 1,379 
  Accumulated deficit 22 (  90,958) (115,630) 
 
     33,608     8,652 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES: 
   Long term loan 23 72,387 86,882 
   Lease liability – long term portion 17(b) -         18,093  
   Due to related party 18(b)       -        12,420 
 
    72,387 117,395 
CURRENT LIABILITIES: 
  Current portion of long term loan 23 10,112   5,431 
  Payables 24 26,713 54,624 
  Bank overdraft 19 1   9,294  
  Lease liability - current portion 17(b) -        14,348 
  Taxation        -                    45 
 
    36,826   83,742 
 
  142,821 209,789 
 
Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 April 2023 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
___________________________________   _________________________________ 
David Shirley               -            Chairman   Gary Matalon          -            Director 
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN E#UITY 
 

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 
                                      Share           Fair Val@e       Acc@m@lated    
                           Capital           ReserAe            Deficit                Total 
      $’000            $’000           $’000            $’000 
 
 
BALANCE AT 1 �ANUARY 2021  122,903 1,907 (129,961) (  5,151) 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
  Net profit -             -      14,331 14,331 
  Other comprehensive loss      -      (   528)      -      (     528) 
 
        -      (   528)  14,331 13,803 
 
  
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2021  122,903 1,379 (115,630)   8,652 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
  Net profit -             -      24,672 24,672 
  Other comprehensive income      -         284      -           284 
 
        -         284    24,672  24,956 
 
 
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2022           122,903 1,663    ( 90,958) 33,608 
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLO)S 

 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 

 
  2022  2021   
     Note                      $’000              $’000          
CASH FLO)S FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:  
Net profit 24,672 14,331 

   Items not affecting cash resources� 
      Amortisation of right-of-use asset    -      4,971 
 Taxation                                                                10          -          8,241 
      �epreciation -      9,290  
      Interest income                                                       7                    (        11) (      17)  
      UnrealiKed exchange loss/(gain) on 
       foreign balances 606 (  1,084) 
       ain on transfer to related party     -      (  6,382) 
 Interest expense                                                     9 11,329   16,169  
      Share of (profit)/loss from associate (  3,201) 6,978  
       ain on derecognition of right-of-use asset (  4,621)      -     
 
     28,774    52,497 
  �hanges in operating assets and liabilities�  
      Inventories -      3,525  
      Receivables   (  3,421) 11,437  
      Payables (27,911) 869 
      Related parties (12,420) 30,234 
      Property, plant and equipment transferred  
        to related party     -        99,390 
      
 (14,978) 197,952 
 
 Taxation paid (       45) (      601) 
  
�ash (used in)/provided by operating activities (15,023) 197,351 

     
CASH FLO)S FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:     
      Interest received 11 17  
      Purchase of investments -       ( 26,813)  
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment     -       (      118) 
 
�ash provided by/(used in) investing activities         11 ( 26,914)  

 
CASH FLO)S FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 

Interest  paid (11,329)   ( 14,383) 
    Loan repayments (  9,814) ( 97,633) 
    Lease interest expense paid -     (   1,786)  
    Lease liability payment                                                                          -      (   5,202)  

 
�ash used in financing activities (21,143) (119,004) 
 
(�ecrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (36,155)      51,433  
 
CASH AND CASH E#UIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 47,939 (   4,578)  
Effect of exchange (loss)/gain on foreign balances (     327)    1,084  
 
CASH AND CASH E#UIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR   19 11,457   47,939  
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 K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
 

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 
 Note        2022  2021   
       $’000     $’000     
  
 
Other operating income 6 18,054 78,476  
 
Administrative and other expenses 7 (10,106) (21,357)  
 
PROFIT FROM OPERATION  7,948 57,119  
 
Finance costs 8 (11,329) (16,169)  
 
  ( 3,381) 40,950 
Share of post-tax profit/(loss) of equity  
 accounted associate 14   3,201 (((  6,978) 
 
(Loss)/profit before taxation  (    180) 33,972 
    
Taxation 9    -      (  8,241)  
 
(LOSS)/PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATION        (    180) 25,731  
 
Loss from discontinued operation 25       -     (  11,400) 
 
Adjustment to discontinued operation results              25                      27,208                       -    
 
NET PROFIT    27,028 14,331 
 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: 
 
  Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss - 
    Unrealised gain/(loss) on investments at fair value 
     through other comprehensive income 13      284 (     528)   
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  27,312 13,803 
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 

 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 
31 DECEMBER 2022 

 
 Note  2022  2021 
  $’000 $’000          
ASSETS 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS: 
   Right-of-use asset 17 -       27,820 
   Investment in joint venture 11 14,997 15,276 
   Investment in subsidiary 12 13,981 -     
   Investment in associate 14 71,557 68,356 
   Investments 13    8,061    6,011 
 
  108,596 117,463 
CURRENT ASSETS: 
  Receivables 15 6,472 6,402 
  Due from related party 18 1,755 -     
  Short term investments 13 26,925 28,691  
  Cash and bank balances 19     1,079    57,233 
 
    36,231   92,326 
   
  144,827 209,789 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
EQUITY: 
  Share capital 20 122,903 122,903 
  Fair value reserve 21 1,663 1,379 
  Accumulated deficit 22 (  88,602) (115,630) 
 
    35,964     8,652 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES: 
   Long term loan 23 72,387 86,882 
   Lease liability – long term portion 17(b) -         18,093  
   Due to related party 18(b)       -        12,420 
 
    72,387 117,395 
CURRENT LIABILITIES: 
  Current portion of long term loan 23 10,112   5,431 
  Payables 24 26,363 54,624 
  Bank overdraft 19 1   9,294  
  Lease liability - current portion 17(b) -        14,348 
  Taxation        -                     45 
 
    36,476   83,742 
 
  144,827 209,789 
 
Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 April 2023 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
___________________________________              ______________________________ 
David Shirley               -            Chairman                                  Gary Matalon        -            Director 
 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 DECEMBER 2022
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 

 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN E#UITY 

 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 

 
 
                                      Share           Fair Val@e       Acc@m@lated    
                           Capital           ReserAe            Deficit                Total 
      $’000            $’000           $’000            $’000 
 
 
 
BALANCE AT 1 �ANUARY 2021  122,903 1,907 (129,961) (  5,151) 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
  Net profit -             -      14,331 14,331 
  Other comprehensive loss      -      (   528)      -      (     528) 
 
        -      (   528)  14,331 13,803 
 
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2021        122,903 1,379 (115,630)   8,652 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
  Net profit -             -      27,028 27,028 
  Other comprehensive income      -         284      -           284 
 
        -         284   27,028  27,312 
 
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2022           122,903 1,663    ( 88,602) 35,964 
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 

 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLO)S 

 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 

 
  
  2022  2021   
     Note                      $’000              $’000          
CASH FLO)S FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:  
Net profit 27,028 14,331 

   Items not affecting cash resources� 
      Amortisation of right-of-use asset    -      4,971 
 Taxation                                                                 10          -          8,241 
      �epreciation -      9,290  
      Interest income                                                        7 (        9) (      17)  
      UnrealiKed of exchange loss/(gain) on  
        foreign balances 368 ( 1,084) 
       ain on transfer to related party      -      (  6,382) 
 Interest expense                                                     9 11,329   16,169  
      Share of (profit)/loss from associate (  3,201) 6,978  
       ain on derecognition of right-of-use asset  (  4,621)     -     
 
   30,894    52,497 
  �hanges in operating assets and liabilities�  
      Inventories -     3,525  
      Receivables   (      70) 11,437  
      Payables (28,261) 869 
      Related parties    (14,175) 30,234 
      Property, plant and equipment transferred 
       to related party     -        99,390 
      
 (11,612) 197,952 
 

 Taxation paid (       45) (      601) 
  
�ash (used in)/provided by operating activities (11,657) 197,351 
     
CASH FLO)S FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:     
      Interest received 9 17  
      Purchase of investments -     ( 26,813)       
      Investment in subsidiary (13,981) -     
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment      -     (      118) 
 
�ash used in investing activities (13,972) ( 26,914)  

 
CASH FLO)S FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 

Interest paid (11,329)   ( 14,383) 
    Loan repayments (  9,814) ( 97,633) 
    Lease interest expense paid -     (   1,786)  
    Lease liability payment                                                                          -      (   5,202)  

 
�ash used in financing activities (21,143) (119,004) 
 
(�ecrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (46,772)      51,433  
CASH AND CASH E#UIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 47,939 (    4,578)  
Effect of exchange (loss)/gain on foreign balances                                (      89)     1,084  
 
CASH AND CASH E#UIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR   19   1,078   47,939  
 
 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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 K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
1. IDENTIFICATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES: 
 

(a) $.L.E.  roup Limited (‘the company’) is a limited liability company incorporated and 
domiciled in #amaica.  The registered office of the company is Unit 6, 67 �onstant Spring 
Road, $ingston 10.   
 

(b) The company’s shares are listed on the #unior &ar<et of the #amaica Stoc< Exchange. 
 
(c) In the prior year the company discontinued the restaurant operations and related assets 

and liabilities of the restaurant operation Here transferred to T � R Restaurant Systems 
Limited T/A Fran#am, a related company.  Fran#am noH operates the Usain �olt�s Trac<s 
and Records restaurants in both &ontego �ay and $ingston. As such, there Has no trading 
activity in the current and prior year.  

 
The company is currently undergoing a restructure of its business model as a real estate 
and property management entity. 
  

(d) The company currently has a 49� shareholdings in T�R Restaurant Systems Limited.   
 
(e) �essa Resort &anagement Limited is a limited liability company, Hhich Has incorporated 

in #amaica on 7 #une 2022 and is a 100� oHned subsidiary of the company.  The principal 
business is real estate and property management. The company Has formed to manage the 
property rental of the completed �essa /illas.  There Has no trading activity during the 
year. 
 
The company and its subsidiary are referred to as �the  roup�. 

 
2. REPORTING CURRENCY: 
 

Items included in the financial statements of the group are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the group operates (‘the functional currency’).  These 
financial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, which is considered the group’s 
functional and presentation currency, unless otherHise stated. 

 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES� 
 
 The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set 

out beloH.  The policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherHise stated. Amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherHise stated. 

 
 (a) Basis of preparation  
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance Hith International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), and have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention. They are also prepared in accordance Hith requirements of the #amaican 
�ompanies Act. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity Hith IFRSs requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in 
the process of applying the group’s accounting policies.  Although these estimates are 
based on management’s best knowledge of current events and action, actual results could 
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas Hhere assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in note 4. 
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 K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 

 
 (a) Basis of preparation (cont’d) 
 

New� reAised and amended standards and interpretations that became effectiAe 
d@rin2 the Dear 
 
�ertain neH standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been 
published that became effective during the current financial year. The group has assessed 
the relevance of all such neH standards, interpretations and amendments and has 
concluded that the folloHing amendments are relevant to its operations�  

 
Amendment to IAS 37, ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, 
(effectiAe for acco@ntin2 periods be2innin2 on or after 1 �an@arD 2022). This 
amendment clarifies that the direct costs of fulfilling a contract include both the 
incremental costs of fulfilling the contract and an allocation of other costs directly 
related to fulfilling contracts. �efore recognising a separate provision for an onerous 
contract, the entity recognises any impairment loss that has occurred on assets used 
in fulfilling the contract. The adoption of this amendment is not expected to have a 
significant impact on the group. 

 
Ann@al ImproAements 201�-2021� (effectiAe for acco@ntin2 periods be2innin2 on 
or after 1 �an@arD 2022). The IAS� issued its Accounting Improvements to IFRSs 2018-
2021 cycle amending a number of standards, of Hhich the folloHing is relevant to the 
group: IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ to clarify the fees that should be included in 
the 10� test for derecognition of financial liabilities.   

 
New standards� amendments and interpretations not Det effectiAe and not earlD 
adopted (cont’d) 
 
The folloHing amendments to standards Hhich are not yet effective and have not been 
adopted early in these financial statements, Hill or may have an effect on the group’s 
future financial statements� 
 

Amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, Practice Statement 
2 and IAS 8, ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’, 
(effectiAe for acco@ntin2 periods be2innin2 on or after 1 �an@arD 2023).  The 
amendments introduce a neH definition for accounting estimates� clarifying that they 
are monetary amounts in the financial statements that are subject to measurement 
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify the relationship betHeen accounting 
policies and accounting estimates by specifying that a company develops an 
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by an accounting policy.  The 
adoption of these amendments is not expected to have a significant impact on the 
group. 
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 

 
(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d) 

 
New standards� amendments and interpretations not Det effectiAe and not earlD 
adopted (cont’d) 
 
The folloHing amendments to standards Hhich are not yet effective and have not been 
adopted early in these financial statements, Hill or may have an effect on the group’s 
future financial statements (cont’d)� 
 

Amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, (effective for 
acco@ntin2 periods be2innin2 on or after 1 �an@arD 202�).  These amendments 
clarify that liabilities are classified as either current or non-current depending on the 
rights that exist at the end of the reporting period. �lassification is unaffected by the 
expectations of the entity or events after the reporting date (for example, the receipt 
of a Haiver or breach of covenant). The amendments also clarify Hhat IAS 1 means 
when it refers to the ‘settlement’ of a liability. The adoption of these amendments is 
not expected to have a significant impact on the group.  

 
  Associates  

 
0here the group has the poHer to participate in (but not control) the financial and 
operating policy decisions of another entity, it is classified as an associate.  Associates are 
initially recogniKed in the statement of financial position at cost. 

 
Subsequently associates are accounted for using the equity method Hhere the group’s 
share of post-acquisition profits or losses and other comprehensive income is recogniKed 
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, except that losses in 
excess of the group’s investment in the associate are not recognized unless there is an 
obligation to ma<e good those losses. 

 
Profits or losses arising on transactions betHeen the group and its associates are 
recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interest in the associate.  The 
investor’s share in the associate’s profits or losses resulting from these transactions is 
eliminated against the carrying value of the associate. 

 
Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the group’s share of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and 
included in the carrying amount of the associate.  0here there is objective evidence that 
the investment in an associate has been impaired the carrying amount of the investment 
is tested for impairment in the same Hay as other non-financial assets. 

  
The group’s associate company, incorporated in #amaica is T � R Restaurant Systems 
Limited (see note 1(d)). 
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 

 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 
 (a)    Basis of preparation (cont’d)  

 
  �oint Aent@res 
 

The company is a party to a joint venture Hhen there is a contractual arrangement that 
confers joint control over the relevant activities of the arrangement to the company and 
at least one other party. #oint control is assessed under the same principles as control 
over subsidiaries. 

 
The company classifies its interests in joint arrangement as a joint venture Hhere the 
company has rights to only the net assets of the joint venture. 

 
In assessing the classification of interest in joint arrangement, the company considers� 
 

- The structure of the joint venture 
- The legal form of joint ventures structured through a separate vehicle 
- The contractual terms of the joint venture agreement  
- Any other facts and circumstances (including any other contractual 

arrangements). 
 
Interest in joint venture is initially recogniKed in the statement of financial position at 
cost.  Subsequently, the joint venture is accounted for using the equity method, Hhere 
the group’s share of profits or losses and other comprehensive income is recogniKed in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 
0here there is objective evidence that the investment in a joint venture has been 
impaired the carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the same 
Hay as other non-financial assets. 
 

(b) Basis of consolidation 
 
0here the company has the poHer, either directly or indirectly, to govern the financial 
and operating policies of another entity or business so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities, it is classified as a subsidiary. The consolidated financial statements present 
the results of the company and its subsidiary (“the Group”) as if they formed a single 
entity. Intercompany transactions and balances betHeen group companies are therefore 
eliminated in full. 
 
The group uses the audited financial statements of its subsidiary, �essa Resort 
&anagement Limited at 31 �ecember 2022 for the purpose of consolidation.  
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(c)    Forei2n c@rrencD translation  
 

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. 
 
&onetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated to #amaican dollars using 
the closing rate as at the reporting date.   
 
Exchange differences arising from the settlement of transactions at rates different from 
those at the dates of the transactions and unrealiKed foreign exchange differences on 
unsettled foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are recogniKed in profit or loss.  
  

(d)        Leases  
  

All leases are accounted for by recognising a right-of-use asset and a lease liability except 
for�  
 • Leases of low value assets; and  
 
 • Leases with a duration of 12 months or less.  

 
Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the contractual payments due to 
the lessor over the lease term, Hith the discount rate determined by reference to the 
rate inherent in the lease unless (as is typically the case) this is not readily determinable, 
in Hhich case the group’s incremental borrowing rate on commencement of the lease is 
used. /ariable lease payments are only included in the measurement of the lease liability 
if they depend on an index or rate. In such cases, the initial measurement of the lease 
liability assumes the variable element Hill remain unchanged throughout the lease term. 
Other variable lease payments are expensed in the period to Hhich they relate.  
 
On initial recognition, the carrying value of the lease liability also includes�  
 
 • amounts expected to be payable under any residual value guarantee;  

• the exercise price of any purchase option granted in favour of the group if it         
   is reasonable certain to assess that option� 
• any penalties payable for terminating the lease, if the term of the lease has        
   been estimated on the basis of termination option being exercised.  

 
Right of use assets are initially measured at an amount equal to the initial value of the 
lease liability, reduced for any lease incentives received, and increased for� 
 
  • lease payments made at or before commencement of the lease; 

• initial direct costs incurred; and  
• the amount of any provision recognised where the group contractually  
    required to dismantle, remove or restore the leased asset.    
 
 
 
 
 

 
 Page 19 

 
K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
  

(d)        Leases (cont’d) 
 

Subsequent to initial measurement lease liabilities increase as a result of interest 
charged at a constant rate on the balance outstanding and are reduced for lease 
payments made. Right-of-use assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
remaining term of the lease or over the remaining economic life of the asset if, rarely, 
this is judged to be shorter than the lease term.  
 
0hen the group revises its estimate of the term of any lease (because, for example, it 
re-assesses the probability of a lessee extension or termination option being exercised), 
it adjusts the carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect the payments to ma<e over 
the revised term, Hhich are discounted using a revised discount rate. The carrying value 
of lease liabilities is similarly revised Hhen the variable element of future lease payments 
dependent on a rate or index is revised, except the discount rate remains unchanged. In 
both cases an equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value of the right-of-use 
asset, Hith the revised carrying amount being amortised over the remaining (revised) 
lease term. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is adjusted to Kero, any 
further reduction is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
(e) Impairment of non-c@rrent assets  

 
Non-current assets are revieHed for impairment losses Hhenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment 
loss is recogniKed for the amount by Hhich the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, which is the greater of an asset’s net selling price and value in use.  
For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the loHest levels for 
Hhich there are separately identified cash floHs.   

 
(f) Financial instr@ments  

 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset in one 
entity and a financial liability or equity in another entity. 
 
Financial assets  
 
(i) Reco2nition and dereco2nition  

 
Financial assets are initially recognised on the settlement date, Hhich is the 
date that an asset is delivered to the group. This includes regular purchases 
of financial assets that require delivery of assets Hithin the time frame 
generally established by regulation or convention in the mar<et place.  
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):  

 
(f) Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
Financial assets (cont’d)  
 
(i) Recognition and derecognition (cont’d) 
 

The group derecognises a financial asset Hhen the contractual rights to the 
cash floHs from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the 
contractual cash floHs in a transaction in Hhich substantially all of the ris<s and 
reHards of oHnership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither 
transfers nor retains all or substantially all the ris<s and reHards of oHnership 
and does not retain control over the transferred asset. Any interest in such de-
recognised financial assets that is created or retained by the group is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability.  

 
(ii) Classification 

 
The group classifies all of its financial instruments at initial recognition based 
on their contractual terms and the business model for managing the 
instruments. Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value, 
except in the case of financial assets recorded at F/PL, transaction costs are 
added to, or subtracted from, this amount.  

 
The group classifies its financial assets as those measured at amortised cost 
and fair value through other comprehensive income. 

 
(iii) Meas@rement  
 

Amortised cost  

These assets arise principally from the provision of goods and services to 
customers (eg. trade receivables), but also incorporate other types of financial 
assets Hhere the objective is to hold these assets in order to collect contractual 
cash floHs and the contractual cash floHs are solely payments of principal and 
interest (SPPI).  They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue and are subsequently 
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision 
for impairment.  
 
The group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise  receivables 
and cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position.  
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
  
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(f) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

Financial assets (cont’d)  
 
(iii) Meas@rement (cont’d) 

 
Fair Aal@e thro@2h other comprehensiAe income 
 
Financial instrument classified as fair value through other comprehensive income 
are carried at fair value Hith changes in fair value recogniKed in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in fair value reserve. Upon disposal, any 
balance Hithin fair value reserves is reclassified directly to retained earnings and 
is not reclassified to profit or loss.  Investments are measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. 

 
(iv) Impairment  

 
Impairment provisions for receivables are recognised based on the simplified 
approach Hithin IFRS 9 using a provision matrix in the determination of the 
lifetime expected credit losses (E�L). 
 
�uring this process the probability of the non-payment of the receivables is 
assessed by ta<ing into consideration historical rates of default for each segment 
of receivables as Hell as the estimated impact of forHard loo<ing information. 
This probability is then multiplied by the amount of the expected loss arising 
from default to determine the lifetime E�L for the receivables. For 
receivables, Hhich are reported net, such provisions are recorded in a separate 
provision account Hith the loss being recognised Hithin the statement of profit 
or loss.  On confirmation that the receivable Hill not be collectable, the gross 
carrying value of the asset is Hritten off against the associated provision.  
 
Impairment provisions for receivables from related parties and loans to 
related parties are recognised based on a forHard-loo<ing expected credit loss 
model.  The methodology used to determine the amount of the provision is based  
on Hhether there has been a significant increase in credit ris< since initial 
recognition of the financial asset.  For those Hhere the credit ris< has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition of the financial asset, tHelve 
month expected credit losses are recognised.   
 
For those for Hhich credit ris< has increased significantly, lifetime expected 
credit losses along Hith the gross interest income are recognised.  For those 
that are determined to be credit impaired, lifetime expected credit losses along 
Hith interest income on a net basis are recognised.  
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 

 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
  
 31 DECEMBER 2022 

 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(f) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 Financial liabilities 
 

The group’s financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction 
costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.  At the reporting date, the folloHing items Here classified as financial liabilities� 
long term loans, payables, due to related party, lease liabilities and ban< overdraft. 

 
The group derecogniKes a financial liability Hhen its contractual obligations expire or are 
discharged or cancelled. 
 

 (g) Related parties 
 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the company. 
 
(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the company if 

that person� 
 

(i) !as control or joint control over the company� 
(ii) !as significant influence over the company� or 
(iii) Is a member of the <ey management personnel of the group or of a 

parent of the group. 
 

(ii) An entity is related to the company if any of the folloHing condition applies� 
 

(i) The entity and the company are members of the same group (Hhich 
means that each parent, subsidiary and felloH subsidiary is related to 
the others). 

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an 
associate or joint venture of a member of a group of Hhich the other 
entity is a member). 

(iii) �oth entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an 

associate of the third entity. 
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for employees of either the 

company or an entity related to the company. 
(vi) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (i) 

above. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 

 
 (g) Related parties (cont’d) 

 
(iii) Identity of related parties 
 

The company has a related party relationship Hith its joint venture partner and 
associate.   The group’s directors and senior executives are referred to as “key 
management personnel”. 
 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations betHeen 
related parties, regardless of Hhether or not a price is charged. 

              
(h) Borrowin2s  

 
�orroHings are recogniKed initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs 
incurred.  �orroHings are subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective yield 
method.  Any difference betHeen proceeds, net of transaction costs, and the redemption 
value is recogniKed in profit or loss over the period of the borroHings. 

 
(i) C@rrent and deferred income taCes  

 
  Taxation expense in profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax charges.  

 
�urrent tax charges are based on taxable profits for the year, Hhich differ from the profit 
before tax reported because taxable profits exclude items that are taxable or deductible 
in other years, and items that are never taxable or deductible.  The group’s  liability for 
current tax is calculated at tax rates that have been enacted at the reporting date. 

         
�eferred tax is the tax that is expected to be paid or recovered on differences betHeen 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax bases.  �eferred 
income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences 
arising betHeen the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements.  
 
�eferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply Hhen the related 
deferred income tax asset is realiKed or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

 
�eferred tax assets are recogniKed to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit Hill be available against Hhich the temporary differences can be utiliKed. �eferred 
tax is charged or credited to profit or loss. 
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 

 
(j) Other operatin2 income 

 
The group recogniKes other operating income Hhen specific criteria have been met for 
each of the group’s activities as described below. 
 
�ividend income 
 
Dividend income is recognized when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is 
established. 
       

 Interest income 
 

Interest income is recogniKed in the income statement for all interest bearing 
instruments on an accrual basis unless collectability is doubtful. 
 
Other operating income 
 
Other income includes gains on the sale of 9� interest in the �essa Project representing 
sHeat equity in 2021. 

 
(<) InAestment in s@bsidiarD 
 
 Investment by the company in its subsidiary is stated at cost. 
 
(l) DiAidend distrib@tion  

 
�ividend distribution to the group’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the group’s 
financial statements in the period in Hhich the dividends are approved by the group’s 
shareholders. 

 
(m) Share capital  

   
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of neH shares or options are shoHn in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds. 

 
4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING �UDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES: 
 

#udgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. 

 
 (a) Critical 5@d2ements in applDin2 the 2ro@p’s acco@ntin2 policies  
 

In the process of applying the group’s accounting policies, management has not made 
any judgements that it believes Hould cause a significant impact on the amounts 
recogniKed in the financial statements. 
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 
4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING �UDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D): 

 
(b) KeD so@rces of estimation @ncertaintD  

 
The group ma<es estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting 
accounting estimates Hill, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The 
estimates and assumptions that have a significant ris< of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities Hithin the next financial year are 
discussed beloH� 
 
(i) Fair Aal@e estimation 
 

�ertain assets and liabilities included in the group’s financial statements require 
measurement at, and/or disclosure of, at fair value. 

 
The price that w ould be received to sell an asset or paid to trans fer a li ability  in an orderly transacti on betw een market participants at the measurem ent date 
The price that w ould be received to sell an asset or paid to trans fer a li ability  in an orderly transacti on betw een market participants at the measurem ent date 

Fair value is the price that Hould be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 
a liability in an orderly transaction betHeen mar<et participants at the 
measurement date. 
 
The fair value measurement of the group’s financial and non financial assets and 
liabilities utilises mar<et observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs 
used in determining fair value measurements are categoriKed into different 
levels based on hoH observable the inputs used in the valuation technique 
utiliKed are� (the ‘fair value hierarchy’)�  

  
Level 1    *uoted prices in active mar<ets for identical assets or liabilities 

(unadjusted). 
 

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included Hithin level 1 that are   
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) 
or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 

 
Level 3      Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 

mar<et data (that is, unobservable inputs).  
 
The classification of an item into the above level is based on the loHest level of 
the inputs used that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement of 
the item. 
 
Transfers of items betHeen levels are recognised in the period they occur. 

 
 The group measures investments at fair value. 

 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active mar<ets, such as  
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income is based on 
quoted mar<et prices at the reporting date.  The quoted mar<et price used for 
financial assets held by the group is based on the spread betHeen the bid and 
as< price.  These instruments are included in level 1 and comprise equity 
instruments traded on the #amaica Stoc< Exchange. 
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K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 
4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING �UDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D): 

 
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)  

 
(i) Fair value estimation (cont’d) 

 
The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active mar<et 
are deemed to be/determined as folloHs� 
 
Financial instruments not measured at fair value includes cash and cash 
equivalents, other receivables, other payables and loans and borroHings. 
 
�ue to their short-term nature, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, 
other receivables, and other payables approximates their fair value. 
 
The carrying values of long term loans approximate their fair values, as these 
loans are carried at amortised cost reflecting their contractual obligations and 
the interest rates are reflective of current mar<et rates for similar transactions. 
 
The fair value of related party balances could not be reasonably determined as 
there is no set repayment date. 
 

(ii) Allowance for impairment losses on receiAables 
   

In determining amounts recorded for impairment of accounts receivable in the 
financial statements, management ma<es judgements regarding indicators of 
impairment, that is, Hhether there are indicators that suggest there may be a 
measureable decrease in the estimated future cash floHs from accounts 
receivables, for example, repayment default and adverse economic conditions.  
&anagement also ma<es estimates of the li<ely estimated future cash floHs from 
impaired accounts receivable, as Hell as the timing of such cash floHs. Expected 
credit losses (E�L) is applied to determine impairment of financial assets.  0hen 
measuring E�L, the group considers the maximum contractual period over Hhich 
the group is exposed to credit ris<.  All contractual terms are considered Hhen 
determining the expected life.  The expected life is estimated based on the 
period over Hhich the group is exposed to credit ris< and Hhere the credit losses 
Hould not be mitigated by management actions. 
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING �UDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D): 

 
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)  

 
(iii) Income taCes 

 
Estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are 
some transactions and calculations for Hhich the ultimate tax determination is 
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The group recogniKes liabilities 
for possible tax issues based on estimates of Hhether additional taxes Hill be 
due. 0here the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts 
that Here originally recorded, such differences Hill impact income tax and 
deferred tax provisions in the period in Hhich such determination is made.  
 

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT: 
 

The group is exposed through its operations to the folloHing financial ris<s� 
 

- &ar<et ris< 
- �redit ris< 
- Fair value or cash floH interest rate ris< 
- Foreign exchange ris< 
- Other mar<et price, and 
- Liquidity ris< 

 
In common Hith all other businesses, the group is exposed to ris<s that arise from its use of 
financial instruments.  This note describes the group’s objectives, policies and processes for 
managing those ris<s and the methods used to measure them. Further quantitative information 
in respect of these ris<s is presented throughout these financial statements.  
 
There have been no substantive changes in the group’s exposure to financial instrument ris<s, its 
objectives, policies and processes for managing those ris<s or the methods used to measure them 
from previous periods unless otherHise stated in this note. 
 
 (a) Principal financial instr@ments 
 

The principal financial instruments used by the group, from Hhich financial instrument 
ris< arises, are as folloHs� 
 
- Investments 
- Receivables 
- �ash and ban< balances 
- �an< overdraft 
- Payables 
- Long term loans 
- �ue to/from related party 
- Lease liability 
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                                                K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 

 
 (b) Financial instr@ments bD cate2orD 

 
  Financial assets                                    

                                 The Gro@p                                               
 
                                Fair Aal@e thro@2h 
                              other  
        Amortised cost      comprehensiAe income 
   2022                2021                2022                2021 
  $’000               $’000               $’000               $’000 

 
Investments -     -      34,986 34,702 
Receivables   3,350   -      -     -      
�ash and ban< balances 11,458 57,233     -         -      
  
Total financial assets 14,808 57,233 34,986 34,702 
 
 

                      The CompanD                                   
             
                                Fair Aal@e thro@2h 
                              other  
        Amortised cost      comprehensiAe income 
   2022                2021                2022                2021 

        $’000               $’000               $’000               $’000 
Investments -     -      -     -      
�ue from related company  1,755  -      34,986 34,702 
�ash and ban< balances 1,079 57,233        -           -     
  
Total financial assets 2,834 57,233 34,986 34,702 
 
Financial liabilities                         

           The Gro@p        The CompanD 
 
       AmortiEed cost                         AmortiEed cost    
   2022                2021                2022                2021 
  $’000               $’000               $’000               $’000 

 
�an< overdraft                   1 9,294 1 9,294 
Payables                                  634  13,234 284 13,234 
�ue to related party                 -      12,420 -     12,420  
Lease liability -      32,441 -     32,441 
Long term loans   82,499   92,313  82,499   92,313 
  
Total financial liabilities 83,134 159,702 82,784            159,702 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 

 
(c) Financial instr@ments meas@red at fair Aal@e 
 

The fair value hierarchy of financial instruments measured at fair value is provided 
beloH� 
 

 LeAel 1 LeAel 2              Total          
  $’000 $’000 $’000  

31 December 2022 
Fair value through other  
 comprehensive income -   
 *uoted equity securities 1,974 -      1,974  
 Sigma Income Funds   -      33,012 33,012  
   

 1,974 33,012 34,986  
 
 
 LeAel 1 LeAel 2              Total          
  $’000 $’000 $’000  

31 December 2021 
Fair value through other  
 comprehensive income -   
 *uoted equity securities 1,218 -      1,218  
 Sigma Income Funds   -      33,484 33,484  
   

                                                                                      1,218            33,484             34,702 
  

(d)       Financial ris6 factors  
 

The �oard of directors has overall responsibility for the determination of the group’s ris< 
management objectives and policies and, Hhilst retaining ultimate responsibility for 
them, it has delegated the authority for designing and operating processes that ensure 
the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the group’s finance 
function.   
 
The overall objective of the �oard is to set policies that see< to reduce ris< as far as 
possible Hithout unduly affecting the group’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further 
details regarding these policies are set out beloH� 

 
(i)  Mar6et ris6 

 
C@rrencD ris6 
 
Foreign exchange ris< is the ris< that the value of a financial instrument Hill 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.   

 
 



K i n g s t o n  L i v e  E n t e r t a i n m e n t

KLE GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2022

KLE Group Ltd.    46    Financial Statements

K i n g s t o n  L i v e  E n t e r t a i n m e n t

KLE GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2022

KLE Group Ltd.    47    Financial Statements

 
         Page 30 

 K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 

 
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 

 
(d)       Financial ris6 factors (cont’d) 

 
(i)  Mar6et ris6 (cont’d) 

 
C@rrencD ris6 (cont’d) 
 
Foreign exchange ris< arises from transactions that are denominated in currency 
other than the #amaican dollar. The group manages this ris< by ensuring that the 
net exposure in foreign assets and liabilities is <ept to an acceptable level by 
monitoring currency positions.   
 
Concentration of c@rrencD ris6  

 
   The exposure to foreign currency ris< at the reporting date Has as folloHs� 
 

           The Gro@p        The CompanD 
   2022                2021                2022                2021 
  $’000               $’000               $’000               $’000 
 

�ash and ban< 
 balances 18,947 54,098 8,568 54,098 
Investments 33,012 28,691 33,012 28,681  
 
 51,959 82,789 41,580 82,789 
  
Forei2n c@rrencD sensitiAitD 
 
The folloHing table indicates the sensitivity of the operating results and equity  
to changes in foreign exchange rates. The change in currency rate beloH 
represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange 
rates. The sensitivity analysis represents outstanding foreign currency 
denominated investments and cash and ban< balances and adjusts their 
translation at the year-end for 4� (2021 – 8�) depreciation and a 1� (2021 – 2�) 
appreciation of the #amaican dollar against the US dollar.   
 

                                                 The Gro@p                                                                         
       Effect on     Effect on  
    Profit     Loss 
  � Chan2e in before Effect on � Chan2e in before  Effect on 
  C@rrencD TaC E<@itD C@rrencD  TaC E<@itD 
 Rate        31 December 31 December Rate          31 December  31 December 
  2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 
  $’000    $’000  $’000    $’000 
             �urrency�         

 US� -4 (758) 1,320 -8 4,328 2,295
 US� 	1 189 (   330) 	2 (1,082) (  574) 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 

 
(d) Financial ris6 factors (cont’d) 
 

(i)  Mar6et ris6 (cont’d) 
 
C@rrencD ris6 (cont’d) 
 
Forei2n c@rrencD sensitiAitD (cont’d) 

    
                                                  The CompanD                                                                         

       Effect on   Effect on  
    Profit     Loss 
  � Chan2e in before Effect on � Chan2e in before Effect on 
  C@rrencD TaC E<@itD C@rrencD  TaC E<@itD 
 Rate        31 December 31 December Rate            31 December  31 December 
  2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 
  $’000    $’000  $’000    $’000 
             �urrency�         

 US� -4 (343) 1,320 -8 4,328 2,295 
 US� 	1   86 (   330) 	2 (1,082) (  574) 
 

  Exchange rates, in terms of #amaica dollars, Here as folloHs� 
 
   At 31 �ecember 2022 – #$149.96 – US$1.00 
   At 31 �ecember 2021 – #$153.06 – US$1.00 

 
Price ris6 
 
Price ris< is the ris< that the value of a financial instrument Hill fluctuate as a result of 
changes in mar<et prices, Hhether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the mar<et. 
As the group does not have a significant exposure, mar<et price fluctuations are not 
expected to have a material effect on the statement of changes in equity. 
 
Cash flow and fair Aal@e interest rate ris6 
 
Interest rate ris< is the ris< that the value of a financial instrument Hill fluctuate due to 
changes in mar<et interest rates. 
 
Floating rate instruments expose the group to cash floH interest rate ris<, Hhereas fixed 
rate instruments expose the group to fair value interest rate ris<. 
 
Short term investments Here the only interest bearing assets Hithin the group during the 
prior year. They Here due to mature and re-price respectively, Hithin 3 months of the 
reporting date. 
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 K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 

 
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 

 
(d)       Financial ris6 factors (cont’d) 

 
(i)  Mar6et ris6 (cont’d) 

 
Cash flow and fair Aal@e interest rate ris6 (cont’d) 

 
Interest rate sensitiAitD 
 
There is no significant exposure to interest rate ris< on short term investments, 
as these deposits have a short term to maturity and are constantly reinvested at 
current mar<et rates. 
 
There is no significant exposure to interest rate ris< on borroHings as the interest 
rates are fixed. 
 

(ii) Credit ris6 
 
�redit ris< is the ris< that one party to a financial instrument Hill fail to discharge 
an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss.  �redit ris< arises 
from investments and cash and ban< balances. 
 
Cash and ban6 balances 
 
�ash transactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions.  The 
group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any one financial 
institution. 
 
InAestments 
 
The group limits its exposure by investing mainly in liquid securities, Hith 
counterparties that have high credit quality.  As a consequence, management’s 
expectation of default is loH. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 

 
(d) Financial ris6 factors (cont’d) 

 
 (iii) Li<@iditD ris6   

 
Liquidity ris< is the ris< that the group Hill be unable to meet its payment 
obligations associated Hith its financial liabilities Hhen they fall due.  Prudent 
liquidity ris< management implies maintaining sufficient cash and mar<etable 
securities, and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out mar<et positions. 

 
Li<@iditD ris6 mana2ement process 
 
The group’s liquidity management process, as carried out Hithin the group and 
monitored by the directors, includes� 
 
(i) monitoring future cash floHs and liquidity� 
(ii) maintaining a portfolio of short term deposit balances that can easily be 

liquidated as protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash 
floH� and 

(iii) maintaining committed lines of credit. 
  

           Cash flows of financial liabilities 
 
The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities, based on contractual 
undiscounted payments, is as folloHs�  
 

                                                                The Gro@p                       
 
      )ithin 1    2 to �      OAer � 
              Year       Years        Years  Total 
    $’000  $’000        $’000     $’000 
 

  31 December 2022 
  Payables  634 -     -    634 
  �an< overdraft  1 -    -      1  
  Long term loans  20,151 82,395 14,831 117,377 
 
  Total financial liabilities   
   (contract@al mat@ritD dates)  20,786 82,395      14,831   118,012 
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 K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 

 
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 

 
(d)    Financial ris6 factors (cont’d)  

 
(iii) Li<@iditD ris6 (cont’d) 

 
                                The Gro@p                       

 
      )ithin 1    2 to �      OAer � 
              Year       Years        Years  Total 
    $’000  $’000        $’000     $’000 
 

  31 December 2021 
  Payables  13,234 -     -     13,234 
  Lease liability  15,477 20,010         -           35,487 
  �an< overdraft  9,294 -        -      9,294 
  �ue to related party  12,420     -     -      12,420 
  Long term loans  13,063 42,659 64,263 119,985 
   
  Total financial liabilities 
       (contract@al 
       mat@ritD dates)  63,488 62,669 64,263 190,420 
 

                                                                The CompanD                      
 
      )ithin 1   2 to �     OAer � 
               Year     Years      Years    Total 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000     
 

  31 December 2022 
  Payables   284 -     -       284 
  �an< overdraft  1 -    -        1
  Long term loans  20,151 82,395 14,831 117,377 
  Total financial liabilities   
      (contract@al mat@ritD dates)  20,436 82,395 14,831 117,662
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 

 
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 

 
(d) Financial ris6 factors (cont’d)  

 
(iii) Li<@iditD ris6 (cont’d) 
 
 Cash flows of financial liabilities (cont’d) 

 
The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities, based on contractual 
undiscounted payments, is as folloHs (cont’d)�  

      
                                The CompanD                       

 
      )ithin 1    2 to �      OAer � 
              Year       Years        Years  Total 
    $’000  $’000        $’000     $’000 
 

  31 December 2021 
  Payables  13,234 -     -     13,234 
  Lease liability  15,477 20,010     -      35,487 
  �an< overdraft  9,294 -        -       9,294 
  �ue to related party  12,420     -         -     12,420 
  Long term loans  13,063 42,659 64,263 119,985 
   
  Total financial liabilities 
       (contract@al 
       mat@ritD dates)  63,488 62,669 64,263 190,420 
 
(e) Capital mana2ement  
 

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s  ability to 
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for stoc<holders and benefits for other 
sta<eholders.  The �oard of �irectors monitors the return on capital, Hhich the group defines 
as net operating income, excluding non-recurring items, divided by total stockholders’ 
equity.   
 
There are no particular strategies to determine the optimal capital structure.  There are also 
no external capital maintenance requirements to Hhich the group is subject. 
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 K.L.E. GROUP LIMITED 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
6.  OTHER OPERATING INCOME: 
         The Gro@p                             The CompanD      
                                                                   2022               2021                 2022             2021 
    US$                 US$                   US$               US$      
       
  ain on sale of investment  -    77,348 -     77,348  
 Interest income  9 17 9 17   
 Other income        18,047   1,111 18,045   1,111  
      
 18,056 78,476 18,054 78,476  

 
Included in other income is $14,313,000 Hhich represents amounts Hritten off by a related 
company, T � R Restaurant Systems Limited.   
                                                                                                          

7. E*PENSES BY NATURE: 
 
 Total administration and other operating expenses from continued operations�  
 
                   The Gro@p         The CompanD 
            2022      2021       2022                2021 
           $’000     $’000    $’000               $’000 
 
            �an< service charges 141 2,056 131 2,056 
            Professional fees 8,539 -     6,950 -     
            Rent -    470  -    470 
            Repairs and maintenance -    2,284  -    2,284 
            Utilities 70 -    70 -    
            Advertising and mar<eting 1,490 -    969 -    
            �ues and subscription 1,258 -    1,258 -    
            �leaning and sanitation -    940 -    940 
            Printing and reproduction 95 -    95 -    
            �ad debts  -    (  8,765) -    (8,765) 
            �onation 450 -    450 -    
            Penalties and interest -    17,547 -     17,547 
            Royalties -    2,938  -     2,938 
           AmortiKation of right-of-use asset -     4,971 -     4,971 
           Foreign exchange loss/(gain)      421 (  1,084)     183 ( 1,084)  
  
 12,464 21,357 10,106 21,357 
    
8. FINANCE COSTS: 
                                                          The Gro@p and  The CompanD 
                                          2022               2021 
                        $’000              $’000 
  
            Interest expense   11,329 14,383  
            Lease interest expense       -       1,786  
 
   11,329 16,169    
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 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 
9. TA*ATION E*PENSE: 
 

(a) Taxation is computed on the operating results for the year, adjusted for tax purposes, and 
comprises�  

 
      
               2022               2021 
               $’000              $’000 
 
                   �urrent taxation                     -       -        
                   �eferred tax (note 16)        -      (8,241) 
  
         -      (8,241) 
 

(b) The tax on the operating results before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that 
Hould arise using the applicable tax rate of 25� as folloHs� 

 
                  The Gro@p          The CompanD 
         2022        2021        2022               2021 
         $’000     $’000    $’000              $’000 
 
                   (Loss)/ profit before  
                     taxation  (2,536) 33,972 (   180) 33,972 
 
                   Taxation calculated at 
                     applicable tax rate (   634) 8,493 (    45) 8,493 
         Adjusted for the effects of� 

�isalloHed expenses 400      9,858            341      9,858 
                    �epreciation charge  
                      and capital -     (  1,478) -    (   1,478)  
                    Share of results of associate  (   800) 1,745 (  800) 1,745 
                    Other charges, remission  
                      and credits 1,034 (26,859)   504 (26,859) 
 

Taxation charge in the 
   income statement     -     ( 8,241)   -     (  8,241) 

 
(c) Subject to the agreement Hith Tax Administration #amaica, at the end of the reporting 

period the company has tax losses of approximately $269,870,251 (2021 - $249,806,683) 
available to set - off against future profits. No deferred tax has been recogniKed in the 
current period. 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 31 DECEMBER 2022 

 
9. TA*ATION E*PENSE (CONT’D): 
  

Remission of income tax� 
 
The company’s shares Here listed on the #unior &ar<et of the #amaica Stoc< Exchange, effective 
22 October 2012.  �onsequently, the company is entitled to a remission of taxes for ten (10) years 
in the proportions set out beloH, provided the shares remain listed for at least 15 years. 
 
  1ear 1-5 100� 
  1ear 6-10 50� 
 
The tax remission period ended on 21 October 2022. 
 
The financial statements Here prepared on the basis that the company Hill retain the full benefit 
of the tax remission.  
 

10. EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO STOCKHOLDERS OF THE GROUP:  
  

Earnings per stoc< unit is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to stoc<holders by the 
number of ordinary stoc< units in issue at year end.  �iluted earnings per stoc< unit equals basic 
earnings per stoc< unit as there are no potential dilutive ordinary stoc< units. 
 

            2022            2021      
  
              Net profit attributable to stockholders ($’000)   24,672 14,331 
              Number of ordinary stoc< units  
               (weighted average) (’000)   100,000 100,000  
              �asic and diluted earnings per stoc< unit ($)        0.25       0.14 
 
 
11. INVESTMENT IN �OINT VENTURE:  
 
                 2022           2021 
              $’000          $’000 
               

�essa project   14,997 15,276  
 

$.L.E.  roup Limited ($.L.E.) entered into a Partnership Agreement Hith Sagicor Life Limited for 
the purpose of carrying out the �essa Project� a project for the development of property in 
Oracabessa. St. &ary.  Pursuant to the said Agreement, $.L.E. is obliged to invest the sum of 
US$350,007 in cash plus US$200,000 sHeat equity. !oHever, in 2017 the �oard of �irectors of $.L.E. 
decided to reduce its direct funding in respect of the �essa Project to a maximum of US$100,007 
and accordingly invited a small company of investors (the “Participants”) to assume the risk and 
reHard of participating in the �essa Partnership to the extent of US$250,000, and US$200,000.    
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11. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE (CONT’D):  

 
The Participants entered into a Participation Agreement Hith $.L.E., Hhereby $.L.E. Hould 
receive the investment funds paid in by the Participants, pay it into the �essa Partnership, and 
manage the process of accounting to the Participants for any returns earned on those funds. 
$.L.E. does not assume the ris< of this investment, and it is expressly ac<noHledged by the 
Participants that they underta<e this investment at their oHn ris<.   

 
Under this Participation Agreement, $.L.E.’s obligations to the Participants are: 

 
(a) to report to the investors throughout the life of the �essa Partnership in respect of the 

progress of the �essa Project utiliKing the information provided to it as a result of the 
Partnership Agreement� 

 
(b) to account to the Participants in respect of all amounts paid to $.L.E. in cash by the 

Partnership in respect of $.L.E.’s interest therein and promptly pay over to each 
Participant the amount so received Hhich represents a return of capital and/or profit in 
respect of the amount provided by each Participant� and 

 
(c) to receive and hold on trust for the Participants and for itself any non-cash assets 

received as a distribution from the Partnership, Hith poHer to dispose of such assets and 
to account to the Participants in respect of the net proceeds of such sale.  $.L.E. shall 
promptly pay to each Participant such portion of the net sale proceeds received Hhich 
represents a return of capital and/or profit in respect of the amount provided by each 
Participant. 

 
12.        INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY: 
 

This represents investment during the year of the company in the  shares of its Hholly oHn 
subsidiary, �essa Resort &anagement Limited. This company Hill be used as the vehicle to 
manage and drive the property management and rental of the �essa /illas. 

 
13. INVESTMENTS: 
                      The Gro@p and The CompanD 
            2022                 2021 
               $’000                $’000 
              Financial instruments at fair value through  
    other comprehensive income (F/O�I) - 
    *uoted equity securities 1,974 1,218   
    Sigma Income Funds     33,012 33,484 
  
   34,986 34,702  
             Short term investments                     (26,925)                (28,691)  

 
                        8,061                    6,011  

 
The short term investments relates to funds invested in the Sagicor Sigma Income Fund. The 
company Hill HithdraH these funds in the next 12 months according to its short term objectives. 
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14. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE: 
    

This represents a 49� shareholding of the issued shares in T � R Restaurant Systems Limited 
comprising of 490 ordinary shares, costing #$77,363,202 (US$637,454).  

              
                      2022           2021 
                  $’000          $’000 

 
                  
              Investment at beginning of year   68,356 42,634 
              Additional investment   -     32,700 
              Share of results after tax     3,201 (  6,978)   

 
   71,557 68,356  

 
Additional investment in the previous year represents $32.7 million of receivables oHned by T�R 
Restaurant Systems Limited that Has converted to investment. 
 
The assets, liabilities, revenue and net profit/(loss) of the associate are as folloHs� 

       
                2022            2021 
             $’000           $’000 
                  
              Assets   239,881 227,238 
              Liabilities   232,931 226,821 
              Revenue   368,469 102,668 
              Net profit/(loss)      6,534 (  14,240)  
 

 
15. RECEIVABLES: 
    
       The  Gro@p          The CompanD 
           2022     2021         2022           2021 
          $’000     $’000     $’000          $’000 
                              

Prepayments and other receivables   9,823 6,402 6,472 6,402  
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16. DEFERRED TA*: 
 

�eferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method 
using a principal tax rate of 25�. 
 
�eferred tax assets and liabilities are offset Hhen there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities.   The amounts determined after appropriate 
offsetting are as folloHs� 
 
The movement in the deferred tax account is as folloHs� 
  
       2022 2021  
  $’000 $’000  
 

�alance at start of year    -     8,241      
�harge for the year (note 11)    -     ( 8,241)  
 
�alance at end of year    -        -     

  
17. RIGHT OF USE ASSET: 
 

(a) Right–of-use asset represents leased premises as folloHs� 
 

  2022  2021 
 $’000 $’000 
 
 1 #anuary 27,820      32,791 
 Amortisation    -     ( 4,971)  
                        �erecognition  (27,820)     -     
  
 31 December      -     27,820 
 

(b) Lease liability� 
    2022 2021 
   $’000 $’000 
 
 1 #anuary 32,441    35,857 
 Interest expense on lease obligation -       1,786  
 Rent payments    -     ( 5,202) 
 �erecognition  (32,441)    -     
 
  31 December      -     32,441 
 

The derecognition resulted from the discontinuation of the lease as the company no longer                                                                                              
carried out operations at that location. 
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17. RIGHT OF USE ASSET (CONT’D): 

  
(b) Lease liability (cont’d)�                        

                                                                                          2022            2021            
 $’000          $�000 
 
              �urrent portion   -      14,348 
     Non-current portion      -     18,093 
 
           -     32,441 
        

(c) Amount recognised in the statement of profit or loss� 
                                         2022  2021            
 $’000  $’000 
  
    ain on derecognition of right-of-use asset  (4,621)    -    
   Short term lease expenses      -        470 
   Amortisation      -        4,971 
   Interest on lease liability      -     1,786 
 
    (4,621) 7,227 
 
18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES:    
                                                                                          2022            2021            

 $’000          $�000 
 

(a) Transactions d@rin2 the Dear between the  
  companD and its related parties  
 
�esa Resort &anagement Limited 
  Advances for Hor<ing capital purposes 1,755    -    
 

(b) KeD mana2ement compensation  
 

0ages and salaries    -     18,549  
Payroll taxes – employer’s portion       -       2,054  
 

       -     20,603  
 

The company and its subsidiary do not have employees, hoHever T�R Restaurant                                                                                               
Systems Limited provides management services Hithout charge to the entities.   
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18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONT’D):    
 
           (c) Year-end balances arisin2 from transactions with related parties  
 
           The Gro@p           The CompanD 
               2022     2021         2022           2021 
              $’000     $’000     $’000          $’000 

   
�ue from �essa Resort  
   &anagement Limited -     -     1,755 -     
�ue from/(to) T�R Restaurant  
  Systems Limited     -      (12,420)     -    (12,420) 

 
      -     (12,420) 1,755 (12,420) 

 
19. CASH AND CASH E#UIVALENTS:  
             The  Gro@p          The CompanD 
           2022     2021         2022           2021 
          $’000      $’000     $’000          $’000 
                              

�ash and ban< balances 11,458 57,233 1,079 57,233  
�an< overdraft (        1) (  9,294) (      1) (  9,294) 
 
 11,457 47,939 1,078 47,939 
 
 

20. SHARE CAPITAL:          
                                                                                                          2022   2021   
   $’000  $’000     
 Authorised - 
              100,000,000 ordinary shares of no par value  

 
 Stated capital, issued and fully paid – 

              100,000,000 ordinary shares of no par value 122,903 122,903 
 

 
21. FAIR VALUE RESERVE: 
 
 This represents the unrealiKed surplus on revaluation of investments. 
 
 
22. ACCUMULATED DEFICIT:           
 
 2022 2021 
 $’000  $’000     
 
            Reflected in the financial statements of� 
               The company                                                                     (88,602)  (115,630)  
 Subsidiary (  2,356)      -               
     
  (90,958) (115,630) 
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23. LONG TERM LOANS:       
      The Gro@p and The CompanD 
 
 2022 2021 
 $’000  $’000      
            Sagicor �an< Limited 
               $70 million loan                                                                      59,715   66,620  
 $26.5 million loan 22,784 25,693 
 
           82,499 92,313 
    Less� current portion (10,112) (  5,431)  
  
  72,387 86,882 
 

Loan in the amount of $70 million and $26.5 million attracts interest at a rate of 13� per 
annum and are for a period of 96 months. They are secured by first demand debenture over 
fixed and floating assets of the company stamped to cover #$31.8 million. It is also secured 
by debenture to be stamped for a further #$38.7 million and to be held in registrable form 
and assignment of commercial all ris<s insurance valuing $60 million. They are also secured 
by hypothecation of various Sigma Funds unit investments in both #amaican and United States 
dollars currency. 
 
The assets Here transferred to a related party in the previous year Hhich is controlled by the 
major shareholder. 

 
24. PAYABLES: 
        The Gro@p            The CompanD 
          2022   2021                 2022               2021 
         $’000            $’000                $’000              $’000 

 
   Payables  285 670 285 670 
   Accruals   2,250  1,871 1,900  1,871 
   Statutory liabilities   12,261  17,507   12,261  17,507 
    �T   11,917  22,011   11,917  22,011 
   Royalties payable     -      12,565     -      12,565 
 
  26,713 54,624 26,363 54,624 
 

The company is liable to the Tax Administration #amaica (TA#) in respect of unpaid  �T, 
statutory liabilities and related interest and penalties.  The interest and penalties Here not 
boo<ed by the company as it is in discussion Hith (TA#) regarding a Haiver of these amounts. 
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25. DISCONTINUED OPERATION: 
 

   2022 2021 
    $’000     $’000     
   
 Total revenue   -     73,364 
 �ost of sales        -       (22,744) 

 
 ROSS PROFIT   -     50,620 
 ain on sale of discontinued operation        -       6,382 
 
                                        -   57,002 

 Administrative and other expenses           -   (68,402) 
       

Profit/(loss) from discontinued operation        -      (11,400) 
 
Adjustment to discontinued operations results   
  credited to profit or loss   27,208      -      

  
Profit from discontinued operation in the previous year Has as a result of the finalisation, 
settlement and transfer of a contractual obligations  to T � R Restaurant Systems Limited as per 
signed agreement. 
 
The adjustment to discontinued operations results Hhich is credited to profit or loss arose from 
the resolution of uncertainties relating to royalties and taxation.  
 
 
The gain on the discontinued operations Has determined as folloHs� 

 
   2022 2021 
            $’000        $’000  
    
 Total consideration -     -     
 Net boo< value of property, plant and equipment  
  receivables and inventories -      105,658 
 Non-current and current liabilities    -      (112,040) 
  
  ain on transfer of discontinued operations    -          6,382 
 

The statement of cash floHs included the folloHing amounts relating to discontinued operation� 
 
  2022  2021 
 $’000    $’000    
 
 Operating activities 27,208 6,382 
 Investing activities (27,208) (6,382) 
 
 Net cash floH on discontinued operation     -         -     
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26. IMPACT OF COVID-1�: 
 

�uring the year ended 31 �ecember 2022, the �O/I�-19 pandemic had no impact on the company 
and its subsidiary. Also, its associate company had a full rebound from the negative impacts of 
the pandemic and Has able to operate at a profit during the year, Hhich increased the net results 
of the  roup. &anagement, Hith the guidance of the various health organiKations is optimistic 
and believes that the �ovid-19 pandemic Hill have no further implications on the  roup. 
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